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The outgoing year was another challenging 
and yet fulfi lling one in the tenure of the 
Board. We are very proud to have been asso-
ciated with the efforts and initiative aimed 
at making this Project the prized asset and 
crown jewel that it is supposed to be.
Our role as the Board remains that of 
providing oversight for ensuring that the 
organization not only effi ciently and effec-
tively fulfi lls the mandate for which it was 
established ( a performance issue), but we 
are also providing oversight to ensure that 
the organization is compliant with respect 
to all the relevant legislative requirements 
(compliance perspective).
When the Treaty was signed in October 
1986, it envisaged that a total of fi ve dams 
would be constructed over time with a total 
yield of 70 cubic meters per second of water 
being transferred to South Africa. While the 
next Dam following the Katse Dam and 
Mohale dam would have been the Mashai 
Dam downstream of the Katse Dam, the 
subsequent investigation concluded that 
the most viable proposition would be to 
construct a Dam upstream of Katse Dam 
instead of downstream. Thus the announce-
ment by the two governments in December 
2008 that there is a commitment in principle 
to proceed with the implementation of the 
next Phase of the Project was received with 
much gratifi cation. It is an established fact 
that once the construction activity begins, 
there is an immediate positive impact on the 
economies of both countries and more so in 
Lesotho, which has a smaller economy. It 
is a win-win scenario for both Lesotho and 
South Africa. 
The challenge will be to construct and imple-
ment this phase of the Project in a manner 
that ensures sustainability, optimization of 

the benefi ts that are to accrue to both countries 
while minimizing any potential negative 
social and environmental impacts. In this 
regard, valuable lessons have been learned in 
the implementation of Phase 1 of the Project.  
This Board has prioritized on codifying those 
lessons and while the actual implementation of 
the next phase may come under the watch of a 
succeeding Board, it will be our commitment 
to help the Management of LHDA to leverage 
on these lessons and proactively avoid the 
implementation shortcomings of the past.
Top most in our priorities is to make sure that 
the operations of the Project have a lasting 
positive impact on the lives of the people and 
the economy, while minimizing the adverse 
impacts on the environment. I am therefore 
pleased to report that during the reporting 
period, we intensifi ed our efforts to systemati-
cally map out the major risks that the organi-
zation is potentially exposed to with a view of 
putting into place a system for managing those 
risks. We remain convinced that the inclusive 
approach we adopted that involved both the 
Management and the Board will in the long 
run pay dividends, in terms of improved 
service delivery, better managed complaints 
and environment as well as the assurance of 
uninterrupted business operations. 
 As at the end of the reporting period Manage-
ment was working on refi ning a framework 
for listing and evaluating all the high profi le 
risks, together with relevant response strate-
gies in an integrated corporate risk register. 
Together with other complementary initiatives 
that we will put into place, we envisage an 
operating environment that will greatly boost 
the organization’s efforts to not only manage 
the downsides but also promote a culture and 
mindset for maximizing the opportunities for 
making this Project the best investment by the 
two governments.
Regarding the health of the population directly 
affected by the Project, we focused our atten-
tion on developing a balanced policy on public 
health.  This policy will have to clearly defi ne 
the role that the LHWP can play now that the 
Project initiated heath facilities have been 
handed over to the government. The policy 
is going to take into account that the health 
of the people, whether in the Project area or 
outside, is ultimately the responsibility of the 
government of Lesotho. This clearly points to 
the need for dialogue with all relevant stake-
holders on this subject. 

One of the key mandates of the LHWP is to 
ensure that the standard of living for people 
affected by LHWP is either maintained 
or raised above pre- project levels. Over 
and above compensation for direct losses 
sustained by the households the Project has 
put in place a number of initiatives in pursuit 
of this mandate. 
One such an initiative is the rollout of 
programmes and projects that are intended 
to help the households generate sustainable 
incomes for themselves. The results so far 
are mixed, while there are a few projects 
that are surviving, in general these projects 
remain one of the biggest challenges to 
overcome. The issues range from low or 
non-existent entrepreneurial skills, lack of 
viable markets,  inability and/or impractica-
bility of adapting to changing market needs 
such as in the case of provision of fl atlets for 
accommodation, quality of products and the 
prevailing depressed economic conditions.
 Thus a great challenge that still remains is 
that of ensuring the viability and sustainabil-
ity of the income generation programmes. 
As a measure to address this challenge, 
the LHDA engaged a consultant to assist 
a specially assembled in-house team (the 
Technical Assistance Unit) to fast track 
the establishment of Local Legal Entities 
(LLEs) and the disbursement of communal 
compensation. 
I would like to conclude by acknowledg-
ing and appreciating the valuable support 
and cooperation we received from our 
Principals, the Lesotho Highlands Water 
Commission and are counting for even 
more support in the years ahead.  As for my 
colleagues on the Board, I have noted the 
dedication and determination they displayed 
in their charge of their fi duciary duties. What 
I have cherished most is the robust debates 
in the Boardroom; these have often helped 
us over come apparently insurmountable 
challenges. We had valuable inputs from 
other structures associated with this Project, 
for example the Panel of Experts whose 
contributions are greatly appreciated. Lastly 
but not least, it is my singular pleasure to 
acknowledge the dedication that I witnessed 
from the leadership and staff of the LHDA. 
I commend their efforts and exhort them to 
capitalize on their accomplishments but also 
to be particularly vigilant when it comes to 
those areas where we still have shortcomings 
as outlined in the current annual report.

MR TEBOHO NKHAHLE

Board Chairman

STATEMENT BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD STATEMENT BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
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MR MASILO PHAKOE
Acting Chief Executive and 

Ex-offi cio Member of the Board

It is once more my pleasure and privilege to 
present an account of the progress we made in 
the implementation of this massive Project over 
the reporting period. As we have been indicating 
in previous reports, while the mandate is very 
clear, the Project activities touch on a very broad 
range of issues, which require a very open mind 
and the need to tackle the interrelated challenges 
in a multidisciplinary approach. 

It is within this context that I am pleased to report 
the progress we achieved this year. As outlined 
in the sections below, we made good progress in 
the delivery of water and generation of electric-
ity. While we also made reasonable strides on 
the otherwise very complex and intricate social 
issues, there are areas where we have assessed 
that it will take sometime before the issues are 
completely resolved. This is particularly so in 
respect of programmes aimed at establishing 
sustainable income generation projects by the 
communities. 

We have taken note of experience gained elsewhere that docu-
ments the enormous challenges of trying to build sustainable micro 
enterprises in the context of low entrepreneurial skills, fragile mar-
kets and limited viable business opportunities. This really poses 
the question of how far can we go in drawing the line between the 
strategy of pursuing ventures that generate income and profi ts and 
the alternative of focusing on those developmental projects that 
focus on enhancing the productive potential of the agricultural land 
base in which the affected communities are dwelling. This means 
choicing between investing in improved agricultural machinery, 
improved livestock and use of high yield seeds versus continuing 
to focus on ventures that are to generate cash for the households. 
The developmental projects, as opposed to income generating 
projects, do tap on the indigenous knowledge. In the coming years, 
we will be critically exploring these various options with a view of 
building sustainable solutions.

The target over the reporting period was the delivery 
of approximately 780 million cubic metres of high 
quality water to South Africa and the collection of 
royalty revenue of approximately M323 million. The 
actual deliveries of 766 million cubic metres, just 
short of the agreed delivery volumes by 1.8%. It is 
pleasing to note that the royalty revenue of M325 
million slightly exceeds our annual forecast.

We are pleased to further note that in December 2008, 
the governments of Lesotho and South Africa an-
nounced that in principle there is a need to proceed 
with implementation of a further phase of the Project. 
This is testimony to the hard and commendable pre-
paratory work done by the joint task team established 
by the two governments to facilitate the negotiations. 
Their work will culminate in preparation of protocols 
which will pave the way for the eagerly awaited sign-
ing of the Agreement to proceed with the construc-
tion and the implementation of Phase 2 of the Lesotho 
Highlands Water Project (LHWP). 

The implementation of Phase 2 of the LHWP will mark yet an-
other milestone in the history of the LHWP as a priority and 
strategy to reduce poverty, stimulate economic growth and im-
prove the livelihoods of the peoples of the two countries. 

In terms of infrastructure, Phase 2 will involve construction of 
a 60 km access road, a 165 metre high, 2.2 billion cubic metre 
capacity Dam at the Polihali area in the Mokhotlong district. A 
38 km long interconnecting tunnel will be constructed between 
the new Polihali dam and the existing Katse Dam.  It is expected 
that construction will begin in 2011 and will be completed in 
2017, with water delivery scheduled for 2018
.
We are pleased to report that the preliminary fi ndings of the yet 
to be completed socio-economic and epidemiology study that 
was commissioned by LHDA in 2006, which is being imple-
mented by a reputable independent organization, the Human 

STATEMENT BY THE AC TING CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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Sciences Research Council (HSRC) indicates that the LHWP has 
positively impacted on the livelihoods of the affected households. 
The study collected information from over 5,000 households, 
equating to approximately 7,000 individuals in the various Proj-
ect areas. Indicators that were used to evaluate the changes in the 
standard of living over time included various aspects of social life, 
health, demography and nutrition. 

When comparing the current situation of the households affected 
by the Project against their situation at baseline and when further 
comparing their current situation against that of those households 
not directly affected by the Project, the preliminary fi nding are 
that on many of the indicators that were being investigated, the 
affected households show an improvement and at the very least 
they seem not to have regressed. 

These fi ndings are very important because they address the very 
heart of the Treaty obligation which states that the LHDA should 
ensure that the mitigation measures it implements ensure that the 
standard of living of the affected individuals is at the least, main-
tained to levels that prevailed at the time of fi rst disturbance by 
the Project activities.

We are particularly pleased by the rich information coming out of 
the focus group discussions. This information helps to supplement 
the quantitative fi ndings by providing a more in-depth qualitative 
perspective of the perceptions of the population in the Project area. 
We eagerly look forward to the fi nal Report of this critical study. 
The study will inform future interventions by LHDA.  
We remain committed to maintaining our IRCA SHE Star ratings 
through ensuring safe and secure installations and maintaining the 
highest structural integrity of all dams, tunnels and related infra-
structure. While we are pleased with the implementation of SHE 
programmes at ‘Muela for a number of years now, the challenge 
that remains is to roll out this programme across the whole orga-
nization.

Our compensation data base consists of approximately 3,000 
households of which two thirds are opting to be compensated 
in cash as opposed to grain.  Over the years we have noted a 
discernible trend with more and more households opting out 
of grain compensation into cash compensation. For example in 
one year alone, between 2006 and 2007 we have seen a 12% 
decrease in the number of households opting for grain compen-
sation. This is a situation which needs to be monitored closely 
to assess what the long term implications of this could be. It is 
suspected that since the cash payments are on the face value 
more appealing to households because the payments are an-
nually indexed by infl ation and therefore in nominal terms the 
monetary payout seems to be increasing. This is not the case 
with respect to compensation commodities whose quantities re-
main fi xed over the years and yet the value increases based on 
the prevailing market prices. 

On the balance, our assessment is that our progress during the 
reporting period is satisfactory. We however remain committed 
to further enhancing our performance in the coming years. It is 
on this note that I would like to place on record the invaluable 
support we received from both the Board and the Lesotho High-
lands Water Commission. We also acknowledge the cooperation 
we received from a wide range of other stakeholders including 
the government of Lesotho line ministries, the civil society, the 
Panel of Experts. I would also like to pay tribute to my col-
leagues in the Executive, the Management and the staff who all 
made it possible. 

STATEMENT BY THE AC TING CHIEF EXECUTIVE STATEMENT BY THE AC TING CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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The Chief Executive Division is made up of  the Chief 
Executive and three other units, namely Corporate 
Secretariat/Legal Services, Public Relations, and  In-
ternal Audit.

The Chief Executive provides overall strategic lead-
ership and direction to the organization and is ac-
countable to a Board of Directors. 
The Chief Executive Division is also charged with the 
task of: 
• Ensuring good governance and prudent risk man 
 agement services;
• Providing effi  cient support services to the Board  
 and its subcommittees and
• Ensuring eff ective management of internal and  
 external stakeholder relationships, and safeguard 
 ing the image of the LHDA. 

For the year under review, the highlights are as follows:

CORPORATE / LEGAL SERVICES

One of the key functions of the Legal Unit is to assist 
the organization to proactively manage complaints, 
grievances and/or court cases. This is achieved 
through rendering proactive legal advice, as well as 
assisting Management in areas of compliance and 
adherence to all basic rules and procedures within 
the organization. 
However, where LHDA stands accused or complaints 
are leveled against it, the role of the Legal Unit is to 
put forward the case for LHDA. In addition to inter-
nal lawyers, the organization has retained a reputable 
law fi rm which handles many of the critical cases that 
require resources and expertise not available within 
the LHDA.

LHDA vs. ABSA BANK

A case of fraud committed against an LHDA bank 
account, which was a draw down facility, held with 
the ABSA Bank in South Africa, which involved an 
amount of M2.4million. ABSA Bank acknowledged 
part of the blame but also pinpointed some short-
comings within LHDA’s systems. They proposed an 
out of court settlement which LHDA accepted, with 
ABSA compensating LHDA for M1.2 million. Based 
on that experience, LHDA has since tightened its 
systems and procedures including the checks and 
balances to eliminate any further similar incidences.

Governance

The LHDA Board of Directors continued to provide 
strategic oversight over operations of the organiza-
tion. In order to keep the Board well informed about 
the operations and a wide range of facilities in this 

Project, the Unit arranged a tour of the ‘Muela Hydro-
power Station and the nearby rural development op-
erations of the Project.  

Insurance 

LHDA registered a major achievement, to the ap-
preciation of staff , by introducing the “Stated Ben-
efi ts Twenty Four hours/seven days (24/7)” insurance 
policy which covers staff  around the clock. The new 
policy was acquired to supplement the existing stat-
utory Workmen’s Compensation policy, whose major 
shortcoming was the fact that it was limited to on-
duty incidents only. The new comprehensive policy 
extends the injury and death cover for all LHDA em-
ployees and directors while on and off  duty.

PUBLIC RELATIONS UNIT

The reporting period turned out to be yet another 
challenging year for the Unit in its key mandate to en-
hance LHDA’s reputation through management of the 
fl ow of information between LHDA and its stakehold-
ers; internal and external. As will soon be evident, 
pleasingly, the Unit was equal to the challenges, in 
most aspects. . 

EXTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS’ CONFERENCE

Deeply entrenched as one of LHDA’s peculiar tradi-
tions, the conference is a critical item in the Balanced 
Score Card jointly compiled by the stakeholders dur-
ing the previous transformation of LHDA. First con-
ference was held in June 1998 and annually in sub-
sequent years, save for 1999 due to riots.
 The conference serves as a report-back session to 
the stakeholders on how LHDA has delivered on its 
obligations and what credible plan it has developed 
for addressing issues in the subsequent year. More-
over, the conference serves as a forum for receiving 
feedback from stakeholders, especially the aff ected 
communities on how they perceive and experience 
the services provided by LHDA in order to enable the 
organization to improve where found short. 
LHDA scored a performance rating score of 84%, as 
per the participants assessment, a whooping 6-point 
percentage improvement from 78% in the previous 
year. The major upturn may generally be credited to 
LHDA’s responsiveness to issues raised for the Au-
thority’s attention in 2007.

AWARDS

LHDA received recognition awards from various in-
dependent external bodies for making giant strides 
in fulfi lling its social and environmental mandate. 

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIVISION
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Firstly, the 2008 International Star Award for Quality
awarded to the Katse Botanical Garden by the Ge-
neva-based organization called Business Initiative   
Directions, for excellence on issues of environmen-
tal care. Secondly, the 2008 Golden Arrow Award by 
Performance Management Review Africa (South Af-
rica) for ”doing most  to  protect  the  environment”. 
And thirdly, the 2008 Golden Globe Award presented 
by IRCA (Pty) Ltd to ‘Muela Hydropower Station for IRCA (Pty) Ltd to ‘Muela Hydropower Station for IRCA
the best overall management system for all compa-
nies within Power Generation and Distribution and 
Water Purifi cation Activities Industries. IRCA is a IRCA is a IRCA
global provider of specialist management solutions in 
the areas of safety, health, environment and qualityn 
the areas of safety, health, environment and quality.

If anything, LHDA viewed the awards as inspiration; 
an independent voice that adds value and credence 
to LHDA’s business. LHDA was also content to receive 
accolades in the social and environmental fronts, hav-
ing won mostly engineering awards in the past. 

TOURISM DEVELOPMENT

In line with its Environmental Action Plan (EAP), LHDA has 
taken a conscious strategic decision to, inter alia; promote 
tourism within and around LHWP, as a focus of develop-
ment in terms of stimulating employment and economic 
growth.  Despite eff orts that included advertising in vari-
ous tourism publications in South Africa, as well as active 
participation in the annual Durban Indaba (one of Africa’s 
most prominent travel exhibitions), and similar local and 
regional shows, there  was a 5.9% drop in the number of 
visitors to LHWP installations compared to the previous 
year.  As detailed in table 8 of the report under the Opera-
tions and Development Division, the reporting year saw a 
total of 31,617 visitors, as opposed to 31,617 visitors, as opposed to 31,617 33,591 in 2007/8. 
Naturally, the decline was cause for concern, and accord-
ingly necessitated a rethink of strategy. 

Internal Audit 

During the reporting period, the Internal Audit Unit 
adopted the revised formal terms of reference as 
outlined in the 2006 Internal Audit Charter that was 
approved by the Audit and Risk Committee.  The 
Unit continued to provide independent and objective 
assurance on eff ectiveness of controls, compliance 
with legal and regulatory provisions, it also audited 
risk management and governance processes. It con-
tinued to align its activities to the best practices as 
defi ned under the Standards for Professional Prac-
tices of Internal Auditing and as approved in the 2006 
LHDA’s Internal Audit Charter. The Internal Audit Unit 
function also continued to coordinate with the ex-
ternal auditors, where applicable, to identify and ad-

dress issues of common concern as well as to avoid 
duplication of eff orts. 

As in all the years, the Audit and Risk Committee 
did approve the annual risk-based audit plan, which 
covers all major risks identifi ed based on the LHDA’s 
risk management processes. The audit plan is based 
on changes in the Authority’s risk profi le and control 
environment to ensure that the audit coverage is fo-
cused on areas of high risk. 

During the reporting period, a number of audit assign-
ments were successfully completed; This includes 
fi ve assurance audits, fi ve special assignments and 
four follow-up exercises.

Assurance Audits

The annual Audit Plan envisaged seven assurance 
audits; During the reporting period the Audit Unit 
managed to carry out assurance audits on the fol-
lowing areas; 

• Katse Field Operations Branch
• Corporate Governance
• Transport/ Fleet Management
• Human Resources
• Information Systems

Special Assignments

During the course of the year, there were special re-
quests for the Audit team to urgently investigate spe-
cifi c identifi ed areas and report back on fi ndings and 
recommendations.  The team was able to accommo-
date these requests due to the fl exibility built inside 
the annual plan. Two special assignments involved 
investigations around the compensation processes 
while the third assignment was to investigate an is-
sue of suspected malpractice in allocation of accom-
modation in one of the facilities on site.

Follow-up Exercises
As part of the measures to assess the level with 
which Management had  implemented the recom-
mendations of the earlier audits, Internal Audit also 
carried out follow-up audits on the following four ar-
eas; Lesotho National Insurance Group’s safety re-
port on the Muela Hydropower station, the Manage-
ment Letter (2006/2007) and audits of the  Human 
Resources Branch and Information Systems Branch. 
In summary, the fi ndings of the audit team indicated 
that the LHDA management applies suffi  cient eff orts 
towards the implementation of the audit recommen-
dations contained in Internal Audit reports. 

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIVISION THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIVISION
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STRATEGIC AND CORPORATE SER VICES DIVISION

Mr Njekwa Mumbuna

Divisional Manager

1. PURPOSE

The overall goal of the Strategic and Corporate Services (SCS) Division is to provide sup-
port services to the line functions. The division develops strategies, systems, standards 
and frameworks within which the line functions implement their various programmes. The 
mandate of the Division covers strategic water resources planning, environmental and social 
planning, monitoring and evaluation, information services, fi nance and human resources 
planning. 

In order to carry out the above mandate, the Division is divided into fi ve functional  areas 
shepherded by branch managers. The areas are: Integrated Planning, Monitoring and Evalu-
ation, Information Systems, Finance, and Human Resources. The offi  ce of the Divisional 
Manager (DM-SCS) provides strategic guidance and leadership in addition to having 
specifi c oversight for certain activities.

The Division is responsible for seven of the twelve Key Focus Areas (KFA) of LHDA as per 
the Strategic Plan for 2008/09 –2013/14

2. PROGRESS MADE DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

2.1  KFA 1: To ensure the optimal transfer and delivery of high quality water to  the Republic of South Africa (RSA). 

1. Planning Parameters
The 2009 annual schedule for delivery of water was issued in December 2008 but had to be revisited in February 2009 
to accommodate the 10 year Muela shutdown. The revised schedule sets the water delivery target for 2009/10 at 780 
million cubic metres (MCM). 

2. Water Quality
The assessment of the three reservoirs indicate that the LHWP has maintained good quality water ideal for delivery to 
RSA and for the release of In-stream Flow Requirement downstream of LHWP dam structures.

Below is a summary of the long term characteristics of the reservoirs based on selected key water quality parameters. 
These parameters and reported values form the water quality guidelines that will be used in assessing water quality. 
Provided the actual results at any one time are within the ranges shown below, the conclusion is that LHWP water is of 
high quality. 

Table 1: Median concentrations of selected parameters measured in LHWP reservoir system

Physical Nutrients
DO

Mg/l
TEMP

oC
EC

mS/m
pH

Units
NO3-N
mg/l

PO4-P
mg/l

Katse
Median 8.2 19.3 6.7 8.5 0.08 0.025
Range 6.2-10.3 10.2-21.2 5.4-7.9 7.9-9.6 0.025-0.3 0.025-0.07

‘Muela
Median 8.7 12.3 6.5 8.0 0.37 0.025
Range 7.4-9.0 7.1-18.9 5.3-8.0 7.2-9 0.2-0.4 0.025-0.025

Mohale
Median 8.1 18 6.9 8.2 0.2 0.025
Range 6.5-10 16-19.5 6.7-7.4 8-8.6 0.21-0.55 0.025-0.025

LHDA Guidelines 8.02 17.25 8.20 0.03 0.13

The relatively high Secchi depth (>4m) and low Chlorophyll-a (<6µg) concentration shown in Chart 1, indicate that the sys-
tem is supporting low biomass crop and that compares well with lower nutrients (NO3-N and PO4-P) above, and further 
strengthens the fact that LHWP water is of high quality.
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STRATEGIC AND CORPORATE SER VICES DIVISION

2.2  KFA 2: To ensure effi  cient and cost eff ective production of electricity for Lesotho.

1. Tari� s

The ‘Muela Bulk Supply Tariff  to LEC remains at 1993 and 2003 levels in real and nominal terms, respectively. Conse-
quently it has become the cheapest in the region at around M0.12 per kWh. LHDA eff orts to secure an amendment to 
the tariff  to current price levels continue.

2.3   KFA 5: To compensate the aff ected individuals and communities for   identifi able direct losses due to LHWP.

1. Compensation payments backlog

There were 583 backlog compensation payment requests submitted for processing over the period. A total of 187 have 
been paid while the remainder will be processed by the end of June 2009 in line with the programme agreed with all 
stakeholders. 

Tied to the backlog, is the issue of payment of communal compensation. This remains a sticking point, albeit not of 
LHDA’s own making. The aff ected communities continuously fail to meet compliance requirements, as outlined in the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). LHDA is however, doing its part to provide the necessary guidance and su-
pport, to ensure, inter alia, that the communities observe and adhere to rules and regulations that govern communal 
funds. 

2.4  KFA 6: To ensure that the standard of living of people aff ected by LHWP is either maintained or raised above pre-
project levels.

Under this KFA, the Division is responsible for the development of integrated plans, policies, procedures and progra-
mmes that maximise opportunities for sustainable development in the LHWP area.

1.  Zonation Plan (Contract C1255)

A contract to review the Zonation plan was issued to Machobane and Associates. This review is intended to update 
the plan in view of changes in Lesotho law and institutional arrangements. The consultants will also develop a matrix 
that will facilitate implementation of the plan.

2.  Progress on Implementation of Environmental Action Plan

The LHWP Treaty led to the development of an Environmental Action Plan, that covers the Project’s commitments to 
environmental and social issues. Progress is monitored and reported quarterly. The chart below summarises status of 
implementation of the programmes during the year. 

The major challenge that has aff ected progress is the delays in completion of the Water and Sanitation component of 
the plan. There was a shortfall in funding during the year that aff ected progress on this project. Discussions continue 
with funding agencies aimed at resolving the challenges.

Socio-economic and epidemiology study (Contract 1204)
The Consultant, HSRC, is expected to submit the draft fi nal reports following eff orts on both sides to speed up fi nali-
sation of the study. 

2.5  KFA 7: To improve the health of the communities aff ected by the LHWP.

1.  Public Health

During the year, work began on the development of a Public Health policy that will govern future involvement in 
public health issues. The LHWP Treaty requires the Project to take measures to safe guard the public health of 
communities impacted by the Project. The initial obligation was to provide infrastructure and personnel that would 
provide medical care and counseling services to the communities. These facilities have since been handed over to 
the respective Government of Lesotho institutions, and therefore LHDA’s role needs to be reviewed. The policy will 
guide LHDA on how it is to discharge its obligations post hand-over.

STRATEGIC AND CORPORATE SER VICES DIVISION
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2.6  KFA 8: To sustainably manage the biophysical environment within the LHWP area.

Table 2: Quarterly forecasted classifi cation and fl ow releases at Katse dam and IFR site 2

Quarter
Forecast 

HYC

Infl ows  Dam 
Site

(MCM)

 Target Dam 
Releases 

(MCM)

Actual
 Dam Re-

leases
(MCM)

IFR Site  2 
Target Flow 

Volume
(MCM)

Katse Bridge*  
Hydrometric 

Station
(MCM)

Apr - Jun 2008 Plus 2 130.04 7.95 19.72 10.99 14.23
Jul - Sept 2008 Plus 1 177.53 15.71 14.30 22.70 17.28
Oct - Dec 2008 Plus 1 434.25 19.79 35.82 28.90 36.12
Jan - Mar 2009 Plus 2 473.84 31.05 356.44 40.40 101.43

TOTAL Plus 2 1,115.66 74.50 426.28 102.99 169.06

*IFR Station 2 was washed away by the 2006 fl oods and was under construction 
  during the reporting period, therefore readings were taken from Katse Bridge

The very high releases are as a result of the dam spilling.

Table 3: Quarterly forecasted classifi cation and fl ow releases at Mohale dam and IFR site 7

The observed defi cit is mainly ascribed to non-release of scheduled fl oods as a result of existing operational limitations 
of Low level Outlet gates, and low contributions from intervening catchments.

1.  Integrated Catchment Management (ICM)

The ICM project continues to change attitudes and farming practices towards more sustainable resource use in the 
highlands of Lesotho. Field demonstrations and training were being carried out in fi ve villages in selected pilot catch-
ment areas. The project is expected to be completed in May 2010 at which point the support provided by the consul-
tants will be transferred to an institutional arrangement that  involves local community councils, LHDA and relevant 
Government of Lesotho line ministries. 

2.7  KFA 9: To provide cost eff ective and effi  cient support services

1.  Integrated Planning:
  
As part of the implementation of the Corporate Environmental Policy, a workshop was held in December 2008 for 
Branch representatives to develop a corporate risk register. Once approved, the register will form the basis for all future 
strategic and management planning in LHDA. 

2.  Information Systems

Information systems infrastructure forms the backbone of all LHDA information and communication technologies (ICT) 
activities. Below are availability statistics that indicate that these assets are functioning as planned.

Quarter
Forecast 

HYC

Infl ows  Dam 
Site

(MCM)

Target Dam 
Releases 

(MCM)

Actual Dam 
Releases

(MCM)

IFR Site  7 Tar-
get Flow Volume

(MCM)

IFR Site 7 Actual 
Flow Volume

(MCM)
Apr - Jun 2008 Average 72.74 2.31 9.92 6.68 16.10
Jul - Sept 2008 Average 38.05 5.46 4.58 7.51 4.56
Oct - Dec 2008 Minus 2 90.68 6.73 7.12 23.09 13.17
Jan - Mar 2009 Plus 2 192.08 8.02 5.10 16.57 6.63

TOTAL Plus 1 393.55 22.52 26.72 53.75 30.46

STRATEGIC AND CORPORATE SER VICES DIVISION
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Table 4: Internet and Wide Area Network % Availability

  Area Muela Katse Mohale HQ
AVE 

Availability
Availability 89.6 93.6 94.42 93.85 92.9

     
Table 5: Server’s Availability Report 

Server

Production Intranet SAP Test SAP LIVE SAGE LIVE Applications Email
AVG 

Availability

99.9% 99% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99.98%

The target is to achieve at least 95% availability. 

3.  Monitoring and Evaluation

An electronic database of all complaints fi led with LHDA is now maintained. The register includes all complaints since 
1st January 2004. The table below provides the status to-date and forms the baseline for reporting on this key area of 
responsibility

Table 6: Status of compensation Complaints.

1 January 2004 – 31 March 2009
Complaints 
Outstanding

Complaints 
Resolved

Complaints 
Rejected Total Complaints

Affected by LHWP 
but not compensated 621 116 47 784 

Compensated but not satisfi ed 175 21 61 257 
Non-acceptance of the Policy 

by those affected  23 6 1 30 
Those affected but not

 identifi ed during construction 407 28 9 444 
Total 1,226 171 118 1,515 

Percentage   81%   11% 8% 100%

As evident from the table above, only 20% of complaints have been addressed so far. It is worth noting that certain 
cases deemed closed by LHDA had to be re-opened, following the Ombudsman’s intervention. It is such  cases  that 
have dramatically increased the number of complaints, after LHDA had internally declared that the window period for 
complaints was closed.

4.  Human Resources

As at the date of reporting, total staff  head count was 281 against an establishment of 261. There were 28 vacant posi-
tions within the approved structure. At present there is a moratorium on recruitment intended to allow for more detailed 
review of requirements. 

STRATEGIC AND CORPORATE SER VICES DIVISION STRATEGIC AND CORPORATE SER VICES DIVISION



Lesotho Highland Development Authority

14

DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS DIVISION

Under the leadership of one Divisional Manager (DM-DOD) and four Branch Managers (‘Muela, Katse, Mohale and 
Special Projects), the DOD is mandated to work on all project sites, to operate and maintain the LHWP assets, while 
developing and implementing the social and environmental action plans.    

Water Deliveries and Royalty Revenue

Table 1: Water Deliveries

Yearr
Planned Deliveries 

(million m3)
Actual Deliveries 

(million m3)
% Variance in De-

liveries
Royalty Payments
(M X million) Actual

2006/2007 770 761 -1.2% 266.0
2007/2008 780 821 5.2% 301.5
2008/2009 780 766 -1.8% 325.3

Actual water deliveries to the Republic of South Africa (RSA) in 2008/2009 were 766Mm3 (million cubic meters), 1.8% 
below the planned and agreed deliveries of 780 Mm3 for the year. A corresponding royalty revenue of M325.3 million 
was 0.7% above the annual forecast of M323 million for the year. 

A total of M2.59 billion in royalty revenue has been paid by RSA since commissioning of the  fi rst water deliveries in 
January 1998, to March 2009.

Electricity Generation and Sales Revenue

Table 2: Electricity Generation

Year

Planned 
Generation 

(GWhr)
Actual Genera-

tion (GWhr)
% Variance in 

Generation
Revenue Sales 

(M X million)

% Export of 
total annual 
production

Export 
Revenue 
(M X mil)

2006/2007 488 483 -1.1% 63.6 0.4% 0.23 

2007/2008 466 520 11.6% 65.5 0.8% 0.55 

2008/2009 466 489 4.9% 57.6 0.8% 0.33

Actual electricity generation of 489GWhr was 4.9% above the planned generation of 466GWhr for the year. 99.2% of 
the annual generation was sold to Lesotho Electricity Corporation (LEC), while the remaining 0.8% was exported to 
ESKOM, RSA. In total, M57.7 million worth of revenue was generated from electricity sales to LEC, while M0.33 million 
was generated from exports to ESKOM.

Total cumulative electricity sales revenue since the commissioning of ‘Muela hydropower plant in August 1998, to March 
2009, is M557.8 million, of which M6.3 million was generated from exports.

Mr Peter Makuta
Divisional Manager
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 Unit Indicators

Table-3: Four-year comparative overview – Unit Cost/Production indicators

Year

Average Bulk Supply 
tariff to LEC
(cents/KWhr)

Average Tariff for Sales 
to ESKOM

(cents/KWhr)

Specifi c Water Con-
sumption related to 

Electricity Generation
(Litres/KWhr)(Litres/KWhr)(Litres/KWhr

Average Water 
Royalties Tariff

(c/m³)

2005/06 14.45 c/KWhr 4.71 c/KWhr 1.73 L/kWhr 31.9 c/m³

2006/07 13.25 c/KWhr 5.96 c/KWhr 1.58 L/kWhr 35.47 c/m³

2007/08 12.71 c/KWhr 6.57 c/KWhr 1.57 L/kWhr 36.97 c/m³

2008/09 11.79 c/KWhr 8.31 c/KWhr 1.56 L/kWhr 42.44 c/m³

The LHDA average bulk electricity supply tariff  to LEC for 2008/09 was 11.79cents/kWhr while electricity export tariff  
to Eskom South Africa was 8.31cents/kWhr. During the four-year period from 2005/06 to 2008/09 there has been an 
overall decrease in the average bulk electricity supply tariff , while there was an increase in the average electricity export 
tariff  to Eskom during the same period. The 2008/09 drop in the average bulk tariff  was due to increased maximum 
demand losses occasioned by frequent ‘Muela station trips that were induced by faults from the LEC network, as well 
as ‘Muela station outages during  the station’s  10-year checks, from  6th October 2008 to 29th January 2009.

The average water royalty tariff  to South Africa was 42.44cents/m3, which is higher than the previous three years. 
Specifi c water consumption, the amount of water needed by ‘Muela Hydropower Station to generate one unit (kWhr) of 
electricity, was at 1.56L/kWhr during the reporting year.  

Mohale Reservoir Management (Reservoir Levels)

Chart 1: Mohale reservoir variations since impoundment in 2002 to 31st March 2009

At the end of March 2009 Mohale reservoir was at 70% of its total reservoir capacity, an overall drop of 3% from the 
April 2008 capacity of 73%. The lowest capacity for the year was 56% on 27th – 29th November, 2008. The drop from 
81% at the end of July 2008 to 56% at the end of November 2008 was due to a drought spell that occurred during the 
May to late September 2009 period. The rise from 56% to 74% at the beginning of March 2009 was due to increased 
rains experienced in late February 2009. 

Mohale tunnel was opened on 28th July 2008 and remained opened during the reporting year.
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Deformation of Mohale Dam Concrete Face Slab

LHDA engaged a contractor for the repair of a compressive crack that occurred in the middle section of the Mohale 
Dam face slab in February 2006, following heavy rains that started in January 2006. The repair works commenced 
on 23rd March 2009 and involved repair of the face slab, concrete repairs of the parapet wall, construction of right 
abutment stairs, and boat access and slipway. Works continued into the 2009/10 reporting period.

Construction works for the augmentation of Weir 2 to measure seepage fl ows up to 1,000l/s (litres per second) were 
implemented from 17th June 2008 to 24 July 2008.

Katse Reservoir Management (Reservoir Levels)

Chart 2: Katse reservoir lake variations from 1st April 1997 to 31st March 2009

At the end of March 2009 Katse reservoir was spilling at 100.7% of its total reservoir capacity, an overall rise of 2% from 
the April 2009 capacity of 99.9%. The lowest capacity for the year was 89% on November 12th – 14th , 2008. 

During the period under review Katse Dam spilled on two occassions for a total of 77 days, resulting in a total spilled 
volume of 226.9Mm3 with the maximum reservoir level of 2053.9masl. Since impoundment Katse Dam spilled 18 times 
for a total of 262 days and a total spilled volume of 914.886Mm3. Overall, it can be surmised that the 12-year      .  

General Monitoring of LHWP Dam Structures

The fi ve-year Mohale Dam Review was successfully conducted on August 25th – 29th , 2008 by the Panel of Experts 
(POE). The purpose of the exercise was to assess the performance of Mohale Dam and its appurtenant works in terms 
of best practice in the operation and maintenance of dam structures.
The POE has declared the safety of Mohale Dam as fully satisfactory. The POE further declared that the Mohale Dam 
face slab crack did not constitute  a safety risk.

Table 5: Dam Safety Instrumentation

LHWP Dam
Total Number of Installed 

Instruments
Number of Instruments 

not Working
Percentage of Instruments 

Working

Katse 995 35 95.6%

‘Muela 95 1 99.0%

Mohale 180 34 81.1%
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Katse Fish Farms (KFF)

Katse Fish Farms (KFF) (Pty) Ltd is a Lesotho registered company involved in cage rainbow trout farming in the Katse 
reservoir at Ha Lejone under a fi ve-year pilot aquaculture business venture project, in agreement with LHDA (Agreement 
signed on 22nd July 2005). At maximum production, KFF is expected to produce 300 tons of fi sh per annum. KFF star-
ted operations with the fi rst batch of 37,930 fi sh arriving on 5th May 2006. 

  Table 6. KFF annual fi sh production and harvesting

Financial Year
Quantity of Fish at Year End 

(30g to above 1kg) Annual Harvest 
2006/07 211,820 38 tons
2007/08 192,938 53 tons
2008/09 229.166 79 tons

                                           Total 170 tons

Frequency Modulation (FM) Radio Broadcast Coverage for Emergency Preparedness Plan

LHDA, in collaboration with Lesotho National Broadcasting Services (LNBS) under the Ministry of Communications, 
Science and Technology, engaged a contractor for the construction of four new FM radio broadcast stations, namely 
Ha Sootho, Lebelonyane, Ha Katse and Thaba Phatsoa, and the upgrading of two existing stations;  Thaba Tseka and 
Semonkong. The purpose of the works was to augment  LNBS FM radio coverage to reach all areas upstream and 
downstream of LHWP reservoirs. Works commenced on 26th February 2008 and continued into 2009/10 reporting year 
at the total contract price of M7,189,846. By 31st March 2009, three stations (Ha Katse, Thaba Tseka and Ha Sootho) 
were completed and handed over to LHDA/LNBS by the contractor. 

Water Releases from ‘Muela into Caledon River

The LHWP Treaty requires LHDA to release water from ‘Muela into the Caledon River to augment water fl ows upon 
request by the Department of Water Aff airs under the Ministry of Natural Resources, Government of Lesotho. In line 
with the said Treaty provision, LHDA accommodated due request from the Department of Water Aff airs, and accordingly 
released 3.9 million cubic meters (MCM)  from ‘Muela into the Caledon River during 2008/09,.   
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Katse Botanical Garden

Katse Botanical Garden (KBG) is intended to protect, conserve and propagate the endemic plant species in the LHWP 
areas. Construction of KBG Resource and Study Centre (that comprises a reception area, offi  ce space, coff ee shop, 
classroom, sitting area and ablutions) and a rondavel started in June 2007.  Construction was resuscitated in May 2008 
(after being suspended in August 2007 due to lack of funding) and by the end of 2008/09 the Resource Centre had 
recorded a 7% implementation progress. 

Groundwater Seepage at ‘Muela Hydropower Plant (MHP)

Monitoring of increased groundwater seepage within the MHP cavern that was fi rst observed in January 2009 conti-
nued, while simultaneously investigating permanent remedial measures.

ENGINEERING PROJECTS AND CONTRACTS

The Katse, Lejone and Matsoku Water Supply and Sanitation Programme (KLM WATSAN) originally scheduled for implementa-
tion over a three-year period, was suspended on 30th April 2008, due to insuffi  cient funding and rapidly increasing infl ation.

The project was resuscitated in August 2008. It however became apparent at the end of the reporting year that a further 
suspension would serve as a prudential measure to create space to address pressing strategic LHWP issues related to 
implementation of the project. At the end of the reporting period, physical progress achieved is as outlined in Table 7 
below.

Table 7: KLM WATSAN Statistics and Cumulative Progress and Expenditure

Project Component Total KLM  Tar-
gets

Cumulative Progress 
to  31 March 2009

% Complete Cumulative Expenditure 
to 31 March 2009

1. VIP/VIDP Latrines 6,369 4,757 75% M35,163,470

2. Refuse Disposal Pits 6,369 0 0.00% M0

3.Soak-away Pits 6,369 4,803 75% M2,077,146

4. Water Supply Systems 101 13 13% M3,841,731

Project Overheads M16,582,844

GRAND TOTAL M57,665,191

HIGHLANDS NATURAL RESOURCES AND RURAL INCOME ENHANCEMENT PROJECT (HNRRIEP)

The purpose of the HNRRIEP project is to promote eco-tourism through the establishment of appropriate facilities and 
infrastructure in the highlands of Lesotho, within and around LHWP areas; as well as to empower highlands communi-
ties. In February 2005,  the Special Projects team was assigned to start implementation of the construction components 
of HNRRIEP, which is co-fi nanced by AfDB and the Government of Lesotho.
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During 2008/9, construction of fi ve Liphofung and four Tsehlanyane chalets (out of the 14 planned chalets) was com-
pleted following the resuscitation of the project in May 2008. The project had earlier (September 2007) been suspended   
due to lack of funding. 

At the end of 2008/9, rehabilitation of Katse Information Centre was 97% complete, with only installation of audio-visual 
equipment and a few minor touch-ups still outstanding. 

Close-out of Major LHWP Contracts

Only one major contract, namely Contract LHDA No. 2007: Mohale Tunnel by Mohale Tunnel Contractor (MTC), was closed out 
during the reporting period.

Visits to LHWP Installations by Local and International Tourist

Table 8: Statistics of visitors to LHWP sites during 2008/2009 

Area

Category of Visitors

Totals # 
of Visitors

Total Revenue  
(Maloti)

Lesotho 
Schools

Lesotho 
Tourists

RSA 
Tourists

International  
Tourists

‚Muela 10,523 945 321 8 11,979 72,940

Katse 6,806 696 4,239 317 12,058 87,300

Mohale 3,435 2,675 969 683 7,762 56,814

Totals 20,764 4,316 5,529 1,008 31,617 217,054

The visitors’ trend in 2008/9 was the same as 2007/8. ‘Muela was the preferred destination by Lesotho schools. 
Mohale was the favourite for Lesotho and international tourists, while Katse attracted mainly RSA tourists. A total of 
M217,054.00 worth of revenue was generated from visits to the LHWP installations during 2008/9, representing a 9.7% 
drop from the M222,827.00 raise during the previous year..

Conclusion

The DOD has in general been able to meet the 2008/9 deliverables, notwithstanding the challenges that included sustai-
ning the enabling environment for the division; managing staff  movement due to staff  resignations and/or new appo-
intments; implementation of performance management and development system (PMDS), and continuously having to 
meet tight work schedules, while simultaneously managing cost and  safeguarding resources.



Lesotho Highland Development Authority

20

LESOTHO HIGHLANDS DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT 31 MARCH 2008

C O N T E N T S

                      PAGE

1. General Information        17

2. Report of the Auditors        18

3. Statement of Activities        19

4. Income Statement         20

5. Balance Sheet         21

6. Cash Flow Statement        22

7. Notes to the Financial Statements       23-40

 Additional Information not forming part of the Financial Statements:

8. Detailed Income Statement        41

 APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 20 to 41 were approved by the Board of 
 Directors and signed on behalf of the Board by:

                 .
 T. NKHAHLE      M. PHAKOE
 CHAIRMAN      ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE

                 .
 DATE  21.01.09      DATE  21.01.09

CONTENTS

                 .
 DATE  21.01.09      DATE  21.01.09



Annual Report 2008 - 2009

21

CONTENTS ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

LESOTHO HIGHLANDS DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT 31 MARCH 2009

GENERAL INFORMATION

DIRECTORS Mr T Nkhahle (Chairman)
 Mr M Phakoe (Chief Executive) (AI)
 Mr J Eagar
 Prof LI Qalinge
 Mrs M Matsoso
 Chief M Ramokoatsi
 Mr T Khathibe
 Mr P Swart
 Mr L Tromp
 Mr AL Giani

NATURE OF BUSINESS Implementation, operation and maintenance of the   
 Lesotho Highlands Water Project

AUDITORS MNM Chartered Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE Lesotho Highlands Development Authority
 Lesotho Bank Tower
 Kingsway Rd

MASERU 100
 Lesotho

PHYSICAL ADDRESS Lesotho Highlands Development Authority
 Lesotho Bank Tower
 Kingsway Rd

MASERU 100
 Lesotho

BANKERS Standard Lesotho Bank

ATTORNEYS In-house Attorneys
 Webber Newdigate Attorneys
 Phafane Chambers

COMPANY SECRETARY Adv S Mathe

COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION Lesotho

LEGAL FORM Authority

PRESENTATION CURRENCY Maloti



Lesotho Highland Development Authority

22

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

The Authority is entrusted with the responsibility for the 
implementation, operation and maintenance of the Lesotho 
Highlands Water Project as defined in the Treaty on the 
Lesotho Highlands Water Project signed by the Government 
of the Kingdom of Lesotho and the Government of the 
Republic of South Africa on 24 October 1986.

The Authority is also conferred with general functions in 
relation to water resources, electricity, education and 
training of its employees, monitoring activities and land 
transactions.

The principal physical features of Phase 1A, now 
complete, are:

(a)  182m high double curvature concrete arch dam on the 
Malibamatšo River at Katse;

(b)  45km transfer tunnel north from the Katse reservoir to 
the Hydropower complex at ‘Muela;

(c) 72 MW underground Hydropower complex at ‘Muela;

(d)  17 km delivery tunnel north from ‘Muela to the Mohokare 
(Caledon) River which forms the border between the 
Kingdom of Lesotho and the Republic of South Africa. 
This Tunnel links up through an underground siphon 
at this location with the South African portion of the 
transfer tunnel system;

(e)  Associated infrastructure, including construction of 
new roads, upgrading and rehabilitation of existing 
roads, three major road bridges, upgrading of border 
crossing facilities and new river crossings, camps, 
communications, power supply, communication 
systems etc;

(f)  Associated conservation, environmental and rural 
development activities.

The principal physical features of Phase 1B, which is 
now complete, are:

(a)  The 146m high rock filled Mohale Dam with concrete  
face;

(b)  A 30km transfer tunnel from the Mohale intake to the 
Katse Reservoir;

(c)  The Matsoku Weir and a 6km diversion tunnel from the 
weir to the Katse Reservoir;

(d)  Associated infrastructure, including construction of new 
roads, upgrading and rehabilitation of existing roads, 
camps, communications and power supplies;

(e)  Associated conservation, environmental and rural 
development activities.



Annual Report 2008 - 2009

23

NOTE
2009

M’000
2008

M’000

Revenue  55 219 62 975
Other Income 20 278 17 725

Total Income 75 497 80 700

Foreign Gains/(Losses) (8 108) (100 058)
Construction and Contractor Costs (11 689) (18 153)
Depreciation (305 290) (303 067)
Resettlement and Compensation Costs (9 999) (7 462)
Salaries and Wages (57 265) (61 364)
Other Administrative and Operating Expenditure (112 701) (86 612)
Operating Loss 2 (429 555) (496 016)

Finance Income
Finance Cost

10 217
(148 621)

7 972
(210 973)

Loss for the year (567 959) (699 017)

Allocation of loss as per cost allocation report

Capital work in progress – 1A Water Transfer 42 084 12 603

Capital work in progress – 1A Hydropower - 877

Capital work in progress – 1A Ancillary Development 17 076 28 345

Capital work in progress – 1B Water Transfer 115 839 214 920

Capital work in progress – 1B Ancillary Development 1 661 2 714

Hydropower accumulated loss (54 004) (7 804)

Government of South Africa Capital Fund 439 031 428 399

Government of Lesotho Capital Fund 6 272 18 963

567 959 699 017

Note: The allocation of operating and financing costs between the Hydropower and Water Transfer operating 
components of the Project where common funding sources have been utilised, is subject to the agreement of the 
Treaty Parties. The last year that has been agreed to between the parties is 2006.

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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NOTE
2009

M’000
2008

M’000

ASSETS

Non-Current assets 11 531 059 11 821 206

Completed Works and Capital Work in Progress 3 11 509 772 11 807 206

Investment Property 4 21 287 14 000

Current Assets 147 830 156 084

Project Taxes Refundable by the
Government of Lesotho

- -

Contract Advance Payments 5 33 818

Other Receivables and Prepayments 6 19 205 42 425

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7 128 592 112 841

Total Assets 11 678 889 11 977 290

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Funds and Reserves 9 668 590 9 663 016

Capital Funds 8 9 894 626 9 943 056

Accumulated Loss – Hydropower 9 (226 036) (280 040)

Non-Current Liabilities 1 783 182 1 832 695

Loans and Borrowings 10 539 681 620 104

Provisions 11 273 619 257 614

Funds from Capital Market Funds 12 969 882 954 977

Current Liabilities 227 117 481 579

Contract Payables and Accruals 13 4 382 6 899

Contract Retentions 13 759 34

Provisions 11 63 515 33 704

Other Payables and Accruals 14 43 984 113 705

Current Portion of Loans and Borrowings 10 114 477 327 237

Total Funds and Liabilities 11 678 889 11 977 290

BALANCE SHEET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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NOTE

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities (147 155) 98 062

Hydropower – net profit/(loss) for the year 54 004 7 804

Water transfer – deficit for the year (439 031) (428 399)

(385 027) (420 595)

Add: Depreciation 305 290 303 067

             Finance Charges 148 621 210 973

68 884 93 445

(Increase)/Decrease in Advance Payments 785 (818)

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Receivables and Prepayments 23 222 (13 074)

Project Taxes Refunded by Government of Lesotho - 181

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 45 816 -

Increase/(Decrease) in Contract Payables and Accruals (2 517) (4 836)

Increase/(Decrease) in Retentions 725 (21)

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Payables and Accruals (69 721) 37 593

Increase/(Decrease) in Current Portion of Loans and Borrowings (214 349) (14 408)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Investing Activities (191 805) (272 269)

Additions to Assets (21 417) (31 773)

Disposal of Assets 6 272 18 963

Expenditure on Capital Works and Work in Progress - -

Expenditure Transferred to Funds (176 660) (259 459)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities 354 711 178 126

Government of Lesotho 199 833 (7 423)

Government of Republic of South Africa 367 429 446 563

Increase/(Decrease) in Loans and Borrowings (78 835) (61 395)

Finance Charges (148 621) (210 973)

Increase/(Decrease) Funds from Capital Market 14 905 11 354

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 15 751 3 919

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the period 112 841 108 922

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the period 7 128 592 112 841

Non-Current assets

Current Assets

Total Assets

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Funds and Reserves

Non-Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Total Funds and Liabilities

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Basis of Preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared on the his-
torical cost basis except for those financial instruments 
that have been measured at fair value.   The financial state-
ments are presented in Maloti (M) and all values are round-
ed to the nearest thousand (M’000) except where other-
wise indicated. The Authority presents its balance sheet 
based on expectations regarding recovery or settlement 
within twelve months after the balance sheet date (current) 
and more than twelve months (non-current).

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet only when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis. Income and 
expenses will not be offset in the income statement un-
less required or permitted by any accounting standard or 
interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the accounting 
policies of the Authority.

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

1.2 Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those 
of the previous financial year except as follows:

The Authority has adopted the following new and amended 
IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year. Adoption of 
these revised standards and interpretations did not have 
any effect on the financial performance or position of the 
Authority. They did however give rise to additional disclo-
sures, including in some cases, revisions to accounting 
policies.

• IFRIC 11/IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transac-
tions

• IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements

• IFRIC 14/IAS19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.

The above is, however, not applicable to the Authority as the 
Authority does not have any shares, service concession ar-
rangements (currently N/A) or defined benefit/contribution 
plans.

The Authority has also early adopted the following new and 
amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year:

• IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment (Revised) effective 1 
January 2009.

• IFRS 8 – Operating Segments effective 1 January 
2009.

• IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs (Revised) effective 1 January 
2009.

• IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes effective 
1 July 2008.

The principal effects of these changes are as follows: 

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions

The Authority has elected to adopt IFRIC Interpretation 11, 
insofar as it applies to consolidated financial statements. 
This interpretation requires arrangements whereby an em-
ployee is granted rights to an entity’s equity instruments 
to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if 
the entity buys the instruments from another party, or the 
shareholders provide the equity instruments needed. The 
changes had no impact on the financial position or perfor-
mance of the Authority.

IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements

The IFRIC issued IFRIC 12 in November 2006. This in-
terpretation applies to service concession operators and 
explains how to account for obligations undertaken and 
rights received in service concession arrangements. The 
Authority is not an operator and , therefore, this interpreta-
tion has no impact on the Authority.

IFRIC 14/IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, Min-
imum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.

IFRIC 14 provides guidance on how to assess the limit on 
the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that 
can be recognised as an asset under IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits. The Authority does not have any defined benefit 
schemes and therefore this interpretation has no effect on 
the financial position or performance of the Authority.

IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment (Revised)

The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 in January 2008 
that clarifies the definition of a vesting condition and pre-
scribes the treatment for an award that is effectively can-
celled. The changes had no impact on the financial posi-
tion or performance of the Authority.

IFRS 8 – Operating Segments

This standard requires disclosure of information on the Au-
thority’s operating segments and replaced the requirement to 
determine primary (business) and secondary (geographical) 
reporting segments of the Authority. The changes had no im-
pact on the financial position or performance of the Authority.

IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs (Revised) effective 1 January 2009

The revised IAS 23 requires capitalisation of borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset. The changes had no impact 
on the financial position or performance of the Authority.

IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes effective 1 July 2008

The IFRIC issued IFRIC 13 in June 2007. This interpretation 
requires customer loyalty credits to be accounted for as a 
separate component of the sales transaction in which they 
were granted. A portion of the fair value of the consideration 
received is allocated to the award credits and deferred. This 
is then recognised as revenue over the period that the reward 
credits are redeemed. The changes had no impact on the fi-
nancial position or performance of the Authority.

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
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Estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates 
the use of estimates, assumptions and judgements. These 
estimates and assumptions affect the reporting amounts 
of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the bal-
ance sheet date as well as affecting the reported income 
and expenses for the year. Although estimates are based 
on management’s best knowledge and judgement of cur-
rent facts as at the balance sheet date, the actual outcome 
may differ from these estimates, possibly significantly.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material ad-
justment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

Provision for Future Compensation

The Provision is based on the estimated net present value 
of a lump sum payment due to the beneficiaries and estab-
lished local legal entities affected by the Project. The Lump 
Sum Payment due is reliant on the loss size, remaining 
payments due to the beneficiary, the Lesotho Consumer 
Price Index and a discount rate of 4.5% as required by the 
Compensation Policy of 1997, as refined in October 2002.  
The Provision is also dependant on the additional number 
of Local Legal entities formed during the year.

The Instream Flow Requirements (IFR), which is a term to de-
scribe the water available downstream which impacts on the 
aquatic  ecosystems as well as the social needs of the down 
stream communities. The Authority will monitor the IFR on a 
yearly basis and any additional compensation required will be 
included in the Provision for Compensation as identified. 

Classification between Property, Plant and Equipment and 
Investment Property

Management classifies property which is held for either cap-
ital appreciation or to earn rentals as Investment Property. 
All other property and non-current assets are classified as 
Property, Plant and Equipment. The estimated useful lives 
and residual values of Investment Property and Property, 
Plant and Equipment are considered to be immaterial.

1.4  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements incorporate the following principal 
accounting policies, which have been consistently applied 
in all material respects:

Property, Plant and Equipment - completed works
Property, Plant and equipment -  completed works is stated 
at cost as transferred from capital work-in-progress upon 
completion, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impair-
ment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part 
of such plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if 
the recognition criteria are met. Depreciation is calculated 
on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the assets. 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are ex-
pected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference be-
tween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the year the 
asset is derecognised.

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods are re-
viewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end. 
When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recogn-
ised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.

Property, Plant and Equipment - Work-in-Progress
Costs incurred on the implementation and construction of 
the Lesotho Highlands Water Project, including costs in-
curred prior to the establishment of the Authority on 24 
October 1986, but excluding the cost of operations, are 
capitalised and shown as fixed assets work-in-progress.  
Hydropower and water transfer components are trans-
ferred to completed works when the work is completed, 
whilst ancillary development costs are transferred to the 
capital fund. After completion such costs capitalized to 
work-in-progress are transferred to the capital funds. 

These costs comprise all attributable costs of bringing the 
asset or group of assets to working condition for their in-
tended use, and include inter alia:

(a)  all costs of investigations, surveys, feasibility 
studies, engineering studies, preparation of designs, 
construction, construction supervision, procurement and 
commissioning;

(b)  the establishment and net administration costs of the 
Authority, other than those assigned to operations;

(c)  the costs of any land or interest in land, and any im-
provements to such land;

(d)  the costs of measures taken in order to ensure that 
members of local communities in Lesotho are not ad-
versely affected by Project related activities, including 
the cost of providing compensation, and a provision for 
estimated future compensation;

(e)  all finance charges and income (including interest pay-
ments, financing and foreign exchange cover charges, 
gains and losses on foreign exchange and other charg-
es) relating to finance raised to fund capital expenditure, 
up to the date of commencement of operations.

All such costs incurred are apportioned to one or more of 
the following activities:

( i )  generation of hydro-electric power in the Kingdom of Le ( i )  generation of hydro-electric power in the Kingdom of Le (
sotho (“Hydropower”)

( ii ) delivery of water to South Africa (“Water Transfer”)

( iii )  ancillary developments in the Kingdom of Lesotho 
(“Ancillary Developments”)
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Such apportionment of capital costs is subject to ratification 
by the Parties to the Treaty. The ratification of costs between 
Hydropower, Ancillary Development and Water Transfer is 
subject to agreement by the parties to the Treaty.  Such 
agreements are reflected as prior year reallocations within 
work–in-progress and transferred to completed works for 
the hydropower and water transfer components or capital 
funds for the ancillary development component, unless cap-
italisation had already ceased in which case such realloca-
tions are transferred to the respective capital funds.

The Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho is, by way of 
Cost Related Payments, responsible for the costs of the 
Hydropower and Ancillary Development Activities.

The Government of the Republic of South Africa is, by way 
of Cost Related Payments, responsible for the costs of the 
Water Transfer activities.

Property, Plant and Equipment - Operating & Mainte-
nance Expenditure
The costs of operating and maintaining the completed 
works including depreciation and financing costs are divid-
ed between Hydropower and Water Transfer activities on 
the basis of an agreement between Lesotho and South Af-
rica dated February 2002. Such cost allocations are trans-
ferred to the hydropower reserves or to the Government of 
South Africa Capital Fund.  Likewise revenues arising as 
a result of operations or cost related payments in support 
of operations are credited to the respective hydropower or 
water transfer activities.  Such allocation of operating costs 
is subject to ratification by the Parties to the Treaty.

Financial Assets
The Authority classifies its investments into loans and other 
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the investments were acquired or originated.

Loans & Other Receivables
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. These investments are initially recognised at cost, 
being the fair value of the consideration paid for the acqui-
sition of the investment. All transaction costs directly at-
tributable to the acquisition are also included in the cost of 
the investment. Subsequent to initial recognition, these in-
vestments are carried at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
income statement when the investments are derecognised 
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Fair Value
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in 
organised financial markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Authority assess at each balance sheet date whether a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

For loans and other receivables carried at amortised cost, the 

amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the financial asset’s carrying amount and it is pres-
ent value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future ex-
pected credit losses that have been incurred) discounted at 
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced by the impairment loss and the 
loss is recorded in the income statement

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any 
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying 
value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at 
the reversal date.

For assets carried at cost, if there is objective evidence 
that an impairment loss on an unquoted investment that 
is not carried at fair value, because its fair value cannot be 
reliably measured, has been incurred, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s car-
rying amount and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return 
of a similar asset.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation un-
der the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial Assets

A financial asset is derecognised when:

(a) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or

(b) The Authority retains the right to receive cash flows 
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them 
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; or

(c) The Authority has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset and either has transferred substantial-
ly all the risks and rewards of the asset or has neither trans-
ferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset

When the Authority has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset and has neither transferred nor 
retained all the risk and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 
the Authority’s continuing involvement in the asset.
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Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and Other Receivables are recognised when due 
and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of the 
consideration paid plus incremental cost. Subsequently re-
ceivables are measured at amortised cost, using the effec-
tive interest rate method. The carrying value of trade and 
other receivables are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable, with the impairment loss recorded 
in the income statement.

Trade and other receivables are derecognised when the 
derecognition criteria for financial assets, as described in 
note 1.4, has been met.

Provision for doubtful debt is made when there is objective 
evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the 
debts. Bad debts are written off when identified and ap-
proved by the Lesotho Highlands Development Authority 
Board of Directors.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet com-
prise cash at banks and in hand and short-term deposits. 
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as de-
fined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Loans and Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value 
of the consideration received less directly attributable transac-
tion costs. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through 
the amortisation process.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Authority has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying eco-
nomic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Where the effect of discounting to present value is material, 
provisions are adjusted to reflect the time value of money. The 
expense relating to the provision is presented in the income 
statement.

Foreign Currency Translation
The financial statements are presented in Maloti, which is the 
Authority’s functional and presentation currency. Transactions 
in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional 
currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-
translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at 
the balance sheet date. All foreign exchange differences are 
taken to profit or loss. Exchange differences are allocated to 
the cost of the related activity.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are trans-
lated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined.

Under the terms of the Treaty covering the project and the An-
cillary Agreements to the Treaty of 31st August 1992 and 30th

December 1999, the Government of the Republic of South Af-
rica is obligated to effect debt service payments on all loans 
guaranteed by it.

The forward cover contracts have been affected by the Gov-
ernment of the Republic of South Africa. 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Authority assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an 
asset is required, the Authority makes an estimate of the as-
set’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset or cash-generating unit’s fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an in-
dividual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash in-
flows that are largely independent of those from other assets 
or groups of assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recover-
able amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. In determining fair value less cost to sell, an ap-
propriate valuation model is used. These calculations are cor-
roborated by valuation multiples or other fair values indicators. 
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in 
the profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have de-
creased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recov-
erable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in prof-
it or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted 
in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over 
its remaining useful life.

Cost Related Payments
Cost Related Payments from the Governments of the King-
dom of Lesotho and the Republic of South Africa are rec-
ognised and credited to the Capital Funds on the date due 
for payment.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009



Lesotho Highland Development Authority

30

Cost Related Payments become due when the relevant 
cost falls due for payment; provided that Cost Related 
Payments may be paid directly to contractors or consul-
tants, or, where cost have been financed by way of loans 
shall be due for payment at the time such loans become 
redeemable.Funds obtained by the Government of Lesotho 
on concessionary terms for the Water Transfer component 
are, for the purpose of Cost Related Payments, deemed to 
be loans at the interest rate and redemption terms appli-
cable to loans of the International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development.

Funds from Capital Markets
The Authority utilises the South African Capital Market purely 
for the raising of finance for the Lesotho Highlands Water Proj-
ect and does not trade in bonds once they have been issued.

The finance raised through the Capital Markets is therefore 
treated as long term funding and accrued interest not ser-
viced through the semi-annual coupon payments is capita-
lised into the bond account.

Contract Retentions
The Authority withhold a portion of payments relating to 
progress billings, until satisfaction of conditions specified 
in the contracts for payment of such amounts or until de-
fects have been rectified.

Taxation
Current tax

In accordance with Section 29(1) of the Lesotho Highlands 
Development Authority Act (No. 23) of 1986, the Authority 
is exempt from Sales Tax Payable under the Sales Tax Act 
1995, tax on any income or profits, transfer duties payable 
under the Transfer Duty Act 1966, stamp duties payable 
under the Stamp Duties Act 1972 and any fees payable 
under the Deeds Registry Act 1967.

Value-added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of value-added tax except:

• where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of 
assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the value added tax is recogn-
ised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable and

• receivables and payables that are stated with the 
amount of value added tax included.

The net amount of value-added tax recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of re-
ceivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Project Taxes refundable by the Government of the King-
dom of Lesotho

Protocol V to the Treaty was signed on June 4, 1999. Under 
the Protocol, taxes paid by LHDA and its contractors at 
rates in excess of those provided for in this Protocol, are 
repayable together with interest at 15% per annum by the 
Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or con-
tains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrange-
ment is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A re-
assessment is made after inception of the lease only if one 
of the following applies:

(a)  There is a change in contractual terms, other than a 
renewal or extension of the arrangement;

(b)  A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, un-
less the term of the renewal or extension was initially 
included in the lease term;

(c)  There is a change in the determination of whether fulfil-
ment is dependent on a specified asset; or

(d) There is a substantial change to the asset

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall 
commence or cease from the date when the change in cir-
cumstances gave rise to the reassessment for a), c) or d) 
and at the date of renewal or extension period scenario b).

Entity as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense 
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Entity as Lessor

Leases where the Authority does not transfer substantially 
all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are clas-
sified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income. 

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Authority and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods and electricity

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and re-
wards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buy-
er. Electricity income is recognized when due. The Muela 
Hydropower plant generates electricity and based on the 
agreed output a monthly invoice is prepared.

Investment Income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effec-
tive interest method that is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset).
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Royalties

Royalties arising from the Lesotho Highlands Water Project, 
including advance royalty payments received as payments 
through the Southern Africa Customs Union, accrue to the 
Government of Lesotho and are therefore not reflected in 
the financial statements of the Authority.

Investment Property
The land and buildings that are held for earning rentals and 
capital appreciation are classified as investment property. In-
vestment property is carried at cost less accumulated depre-
ciation on the straight line method and impairment losses.

Pension and Other Post-employment Benefits
The Lesotho Highlands Development authority Contributo-
ry scheme was closed in 2006 and therefore The Authority 
does not have a pension scheme whether defined benefit 
or contributory scheme.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date
The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that oc-
curred between the balance sheet date and the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue, provided they 
give evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet 
date. Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after 
the balance sheet date are disclosed, but do not result in ad-
justments of the financial statements themselves.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjust-
ed to take effect of changes in presentation in the current 
year.  

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
Standards issued but not yet effective
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

A revised IAS 23 Borrowing costs was issued in April 2007, 
and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009. The standard has been revised to 
require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs 
relate to a qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get 
ready for its intended use or sale. In accordance with the 
transitional requirements in the Standard, the Authority will 
adopt this as a prospective change. Accordingly, borrow-
ing costs will be capitalised on qualifying assets with a 
commencement date after 1 January 2009. No changes 
will be made for borrowing costs incurred to this date that 
have been expensed.

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC Interpretation 12 was issued in November 2006 and 
becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or af-
ter 1 January 2008.This Interpretation applies to service 
concession operators and explains how to account for the 
obligations undertaken and rights received in service con-
cession arrangements. No member of the Authority is an 
operator and hence this Interpretation will have no impact 
on the Authority.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC Interpretation 13 was issued in June 2007 and be-
comes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2008. This Interpretation requires customer loyalty 
award credits to be accounted for as a separate compo-
nent of the sales transaction in which they are granted and 
therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received 
is allocated to the award credits and deferred over the pe-
riod that the award credits are fulfilled. 

The Authority expects that this interpretation will have no 
impact on the financial statements as no such schemes 
currently exist.

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

IFRIC Interpretation 14 was issued in July 2007 and be-
comes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2008. This Interpretation provides guidance on 
how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a de-
fined benefit scheme that can be recognised as an asset 
under IAS 19 Employee Benefits. The Authority expects 
that this Interpretation will have no impact on the financial 
position or performance as the Authority does not have 
any defined benefit plans.

2.  OPERATING LOSS
Operating Loss is stated after :

Expenses

Auditor’s Remuneration 741 804

Construction and Contractor 
Costs 11 689 18 154

Depreciation 305 290 303 067

Finance Charges 148 621 210 973

Foreign Exchange Loss 8 108 100 058

Resettlement and Compensation 
Costs 9 999 7 462

Staff Costs – Short Term Benefits 57 265 61 364

The above costs were subjected to the cost allocation pro-
cess between the Government of Lesotho and the Govern-
ment of South Africa.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 COMPLETED WORKS

Hydropower

Civil Works

M’000

Hydropower

Plant

M’000

Water Transfer

Civil Works

M’000

Vehicles &

Equipment

M’000

Total

M’000

Carrying Value at 31 March 2007 753 845 299 361 11 055 641 2 465 12 111 312

Transfer from Work in Progress - - - - -

Additions - - - 17 368 17 368

Depreciation (17 910) (17 774) (264 800) (2 178) (302 662)

Disposal/donation of assets - - (23 557) (1 564) (25 121)

Accumulated depreciation on dis-
posed assets - - 4 595 1 564 6 159

Carrying Value at 31 March 2008 735 935 281 587 10 771 879 17 655 11 807 056

Cost 893 077 443 132 13 180 769 25 940 14 542 918

Accumulated Depreciation (157 142) (161 545) (1 959 253) (8 285) (2 286 225)

Taxes Refundable by the Government 
of Lesotho - - (449 637) - (449 637)

The useful life of the assets is esti-
mated as follows: 50 Years 25 Years 50 Years 3-5 Years

Transfer from Work in Progress - - - - -

Additions - - 930 12 345 13 275

Depreciation (17 862) (17 725) (263 524) (5 324) (304 435)

Disposal/donation of assets - - (6 982) (310) (7 292)

Accumulated depreciation on dis-
posed assets - - 708 310 1 018

Carrying Value at 31 March 2009 718 073 263 861 10 503 012 24 676 11 509 622

Cost 893 077 443 132 13 174 717 37 975 14 548 901

Accumulated Depreciation (175 004) (179 271) (2 222 068) (13 299) (2 589 642)

Taxes Refundable by the Government 
of Lesotho - - (449 637) - (449 637)

The useful life of the assets is esti-
mated as follows: 50 Years 25 Years 50 Years 3-5 Years
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 CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

Hydropower

M’000

Ancillary Development

M’000

Water Transfer

M’000

Operations 
& Mainte-

nance

M’000

Total

M’000

Phase 1A
Phase 

1B Phase 1A Phase 1B Phase 1A Phase 1B

Cost 1 335 343 - 608 393 219 742 8 374 904 5 406 278 17 066 15 961 726

Total transferred to 
Completed Works/Capital 
funds (1 335 343) - (608 393) (219 742) (7 975 688) ( 5 355 906) (16 916) (15 511 988)

Taxes Refundable by the 
Government of Lesotho - - - - (399 216) (50 372) - (449 588)
Carrying Value at 31 
March 2007 - - - - - - 150 150

Prior Year Reallocations (2 693) - 6 356 (6 469) 15 137 (15 200) 2 869 -

Cost Allocation 877 - 28 345 2 714 12 603 214 920 - 259 459

Transferred to Completed 
Works

Transferred to Capital 
Funds 1 816 - (34 701) 3 755 (27 740) (199 720) (2 869) (259 459)
Carrying Value at 31 
March 2008 - - - - - - 150 150

Prior Year Reallocations - - - - - - - -

Cost Allocation - - 17 076 1 661 42 084 115 839 - 176 660

Transferred to Completed 
Works - - - - - - - -

Transferred to Capital 
Funds - - (17 076) (1 661) (42 084) (115 839) - (176 660)

Cost 1 335 343 - 625 469 221 403 8 416 998 5 522 117 17 066 16 138 386

Total transferred to 
Completed Works/Capital 
funds (1 335 343) - (625 469) (221 403) (8 017 772) (5 471 745) (16 916) (15 688 648)

Taxes Refundable by the 
Government of Lesotho - - - - (399 216) (50 372) - (449 588)
Carrying Value at 31 
March 2009 - - - - - - 150 150

The above allocation of costs between Hydropower, Ancillary Development and Water Transfer is subject to agreement 
by the parties to the Treaty.  Such agreements are reflected as prior year reallocations. Prior year adjustments up to and 
including 2006 have been included.
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4.  INVESTMENT PROPERTY
2009

M’000
2008

M’000

Net Book Value 31 March 14 000 -

Current year Movements:
Cost 14 405 -

-  Additions 8 142 -

-  Disposals - -

Accumulated Depreciation (405) -

- Depreciation (855) (405)

Reclassifications - 14 405

Assets at Cost

Accumulated Depreciation

22 547

(1 260)

14 405

(405)
Net Book Value 31 March 21 287 14 000
Investment Property consists out of Standard (Lesotho) Bank Building and is depreciated over 30 years. 
Improvements are depreciated over the lease term of 7.5 years. The current market value of this Investment 
Property is still in line with its original cost price. This is due to the fact that the property was purchased 15 
months prior to the current financial year-end and due to the economic circumstances; the value of the prop-
erty would not have increased. No indicators of impairment were identified.

2009
M’000

2008
M’000

5.  CONTRACT ADVANCE PAYMENTS
Contract Advance Payments 33 818

Provision for Doubtful Debts - -

33 818

2009
M’000

2008
M’000

6.  OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade Debtors 18 801 23 339

Staff Debtors 11 18

Value Added Taxation 11 874 10 038

Other Receivables and Prepayments 5 008 23 543

Provision for Doubtful Debts (16 489) (14 513)

19 205 42 425
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For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, refer to Note 19 Trade receivables are non-inter-
est bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. As at 31 March 2009, trade receivables and other receivables 
at initial value of M16 489 (2008: M14 513) were impaired and fully provided for.

At 31 March 2009, the ageing analysis of trade receivables are as follows:

Past due but not impaired

Total Neither 
past due 
Nor im-
paired

< 30 days 30 – 60 days 60 – 90 days 90 – 120 
days

> 120 days

M’000 M’000 M’000 M’000 M’000 M’000 M’000

2009 18 801 - 9 708 5 905 - - 3 188

2008 23 339 - 5 978 4 022 4 832 5 232 3 275

7.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at Bank

Cash on Hand

128 506

86

112 760

81

128 592 112 841

Currency Analysis

US Dollar

Maloti

-

128 592

20

112 821

128 592 112 841

Cash at the bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are 
made for varying periods of between one day and one month depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Au-
thority. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is M 128 592 000 (2008: M112 841 000).
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8.  CAPITAL FUNDS

Government of 
Lesotho
M’000

Government of 
South Africa

M’000
Total

M’000

Balance at 31 March 2007 656 957 9 534 817 10 191 774

Amounts refunded (69 460) - (69 460)

Cost related payments amounts provided

Hydropower and Ancillary Development 81 000 - 81 000

Water Transfer - 446 563 446 563

Ancillary Development Assets donated 

to Government of Lesotho (18 963) - (18 963)

Transfer from Capital Work in Progress (30 118) (229 341) (259 459)

Transfer from Income Statement - (428 399) (428 399)

Balance at 31 March 2008 619 416 9 323 640 9 943 056

Amounts refunded (59 542) - (59 542)

Cost related payments amounts provided

Hydropower and Ancillary Development 265 647 - 265 647

Water Transfer - 367 429 367 429

Ancillary Development Assets donated to 
Government of Lesotho (6 272) - (6 272)

Transfer from Capital Work in Progress (18 737) (157 924) (176 661)

Transfer from Income Statement - (439 031) (439 031)

Balance at 31 March 2009 800 512 9 094 114 9 894 626

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009



Annual Report 2008 - 2009

37

9.  ACCUMULATED LOSS – HYDROPOWER

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

Income 57 303 62 269

Less:  Cost of sales (3 299) (54 465)

Operations and maintenance costs (38 341) (12 659)

Financing costs 72 831 (6 122)

Depreciation (37 789) (35 684)

Net profit / (loss) for the year 54 004 7 804

Accumulated loss at the beginning of the period (280 040) (287 844)

Accumulated loss at the end of the period (226 036) (280 040)

10.  LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

Non-Current Portion 539 681 620 104

Current Portion 114 477 327 237

654 158 947 341

Currency Analysis

Euro 244 207 232 450

Maloti - 186 040

Rand 378 532 429 184

Sterling Pound - 65 192

US Dollar 31 419 34 475

654 158 947 341

Interest Bearing Status

Interest-bearing 654 158 947 341

Non-interest bearing - -

654 158 947 341

Maturity Profile

Within One Year 114 477 327 237

Between Two and Five Years 377 836 425 884

More than Five Years 161 845 194 220

654 158 947 341
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11. PROVISIONS

Future 
Compensation

M’000

Contract 
Claims

M’000

Severance 
Pay

M’000

Leave Pay

M’000

Total

M’000

Balance at 31 March 2007
Additional Provisions made during the year

Amounts used

242 862

40 745

-

8 030

-

(5 321)

1 269

1 987

-

2 098

-

(352)

254 259

42 732

(5 673)

Balance at 31 March 2008 283 607 2 709 3 256 1 746 291 318

Additional Provisions made during the year

Amounts used 43 987

-

1 151

-

478

-

200

-

45 816

-

Balance at 31 March 2009 327 594 3 860 3 734 1 946 337 134

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

Non-Current

Current

273 619

63 515

257 614

33 704

337 134 291 318

Provision for Future Compensation
The provision for future compensation was created due to the Lesotho Highlands Development Authority requiring land in 
the selected development area. The persons directly or indirectly affected by the Project were identified and compensated 
in terms of the Compensation Policy of July 1997, as refined in October 2002.

The provision is based on the estimated net present value of a lump sum payment to all beneficiaries and established local 
legal entities discounted at 4.5%. The Provision is variable based on yearly changes in the Consumer Price Index and the 
additional Local Legal entities formed during the year.

The Instream Flow Requirements (IFR), which is a term to describe the water available downstream which impacts on the 
aquatic  ecosystems as well as the social needs of the down stream communities. The Authority will monitor the IFR on a 
yearly basis and any additional compensation required will be included in the Provision for Compensation as identified. 

Management assumption relating to the calculation of the provision for future compensation: Rangeland compensation is 
paid per village which consists of numerous beneficiaries and not all of them have the same loss date. As a detailed list 
of beneficiaries at year-end and the dates of their acquisition could not be provided, the assumption of the average loss 
date per village as per the LHWC will be used as the loss date for the calculation of the future compensation provision.
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Provision for Contract Claims
The provision was created due to litigation claims instituted against the Lesotho Highlands Development Authority. The 
provision is recognized when the legal department determines that an outflow of economic benefits is probable and a 
reliable estimate of the obligation can be established.

Provision for Severance Pay
The provision is created in line with current legislation i.e. two weeks remuneration for each completed year of service.  
There is uncertainty as to the timing of the severance pay outflow. 

Provision for Leave Pay
The provision for leave pay is bases on the outstanding leave days per employee and his/her basic salary at balance sheet 
date. The outstanding leave days per employee are restricted to 18 days.

12. FUNDS FROM CAPITAL MARKET
The Authority initiated the issue of Capital Market bonds in 1993 “in association” with the Trans Caledon Tunnel Author-
ity (TCTA), and guaranteed by the Government of South Africa.  The TCTA, as the registered issuer, issues bonds on the 
LHDA’s instructions on behalf of the Authority, the proceeds of which are utilised by LHDA to repay other borrowing obli-
gations.  The bonds are redeemable by TCTA.

No new “joint” capital market issues were registered during the current year.  The stock currently registered therefore 
remains as follows:

Stock Coupon Maturity

Registered

Nominal

Registered

Nominal

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

WS03 13.0% 15 September 2010 8 000 000   8 000 000

8 000 000 8 000 000

The nominal values of the stocks issued to date and the proceeds received therefrom are as follows:

Issued on behalf of LHDA:

Stock
          Cumulative nominal value of 
          LHWP stock issued

Cumulative net proceeds from 
LHWP stock issued inclusive of 
capitalized Finance costs

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

WS03 998 000    998 000 969 882 954 977

Total 998 000 998 000 969 882 954 977
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2009

M’000

20082008

M’000

13.  CONTRACT PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Contract Creditors 802 1 054

Contract Accruals 3 580 5 845

4 382 6 899

Contract Retentions 759 34

5 141 6 933

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

14.  OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Trade payables 1 363 2 988

Staff payables 3 607 106

Accrued interest on loans 9 317 78 077

Accrued interest on capital markets 6 396 6 292

Accrued coupon on capital markets 11 930 11 930

Other payables 11 371 14 312

43 984 113 705

No maturity analysis of need be disclosed for the financial liabilities in Note 13 and 14 as all the Authority’s financial assets 
and liabilities are expected to mature within a twelve-month period.

15.  FORWARD COVER
Foreign currency denominated loans, except those for ‘Muela Hydropower Implementation, are subject to forward cover 
contracts.  However, in respect of the foreign currency denominated Hydropower loans, the Government of Lesotho has 
assumed the repayment obligations, and hence the foreign exchange risks, in exchange for a fixed Maloti obligation by 
the Authority to the Government. The forward cover contracts where entered into by the Trans Caledon Tunnel Authority. 
The Lesotho Highlands Development Authority revalue all its offshore loans at the applicable spot rate as at 31 March 
each year as the risks and rewards of the Forward Cover Contracts do no accrue to the Authority.

16.  CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Authority has been notified of the intention by various Contractors and employees to submit claims. The claims that 
are probable have been provided for in the Provision for Claims. The claims which are disputed and which do not appear 
to be probable amount toM 5 223 837 (2008: M nil).  A contingent liability is recognised for the downstream reaches 7 & 
8 for M 11 002 880 (2008: M nil). The balance for 40 years will be paid subject to verification of losses in 10 years from 
now i.e. on 1 January 2014. The 2003 Present Value amounts shown will be subject to escalation (by inflation rate and 
by 8% discount rate) up to the payment date. Subject, however, to adjustments following from the verification process. 
These should be disclosed as a contingent liability, as the amount and the timing of the payment are so uncertain that a 
provision cannot be recognised.

17.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Authority’s principal financial instruments comprise of loans and cash and short term deposits. The main purpose 
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Authority’s operations. The Authority has various other financial 
instruments such as trade debtors, trade creditors and provision for future compensation, which arise directly from its 
operations.
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General Risk Management Principles
Risk management is of critical importance to the Authority as it understands that changing market conditions 
make risk unavoidable.  Over the years the Authority has sought and implemented a comprehensive risk manage-
ment process to consistently identify, understand and properly manage risk at all times.  Risk policies, limits and 
control procedures are continuously monitored.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk
The Authority undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies which, implies that exposure to 
exchange rate fluctuations arise.  All foreign currency denominated loans, except for those for ‘Muela Hydropower 
Implementation; are or have been the subject of forward cover contracts taken out by the Trans Caledon Tunnel 
Authority on behalf of South Africa which guarantees and is ultimately responsible for repayment of those loans.

In respect of the foreign currency denominated loans for ‘Muela Hydropower Implementation the Government of 
Lesotho has assumed all the foreign exchange risk in exchange for a fixed Maloti obligation by the Authority to 
the Government.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in the Euro, Pound and US$ 
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Authority’s profit (due to changes in the fair value of 
monetary assets and liabilities).

Change in exchange rate Effect on profit before tax   M’000

2009

Euro +10% 24 421

Pound Sterling +10% -

US Dollar +10% 3 142

Euro -10% ( 24 421)

Pound Sterling -10% -

US Dollar -10% ( 3 142)

2008

Euro +10%                 23 245

Pound Sterling +10%                   6 519

US Dollar +10%                   3 448

Euro -10%              ( 23 245)

Pound Sterling -10%                ( 6 519)

US Dollar -10%                ( 3 448)

Interest Rate Risk
The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Authority’s long-term 
debt obligations.

Interest Rate Risk is the risk of interest rate fluctuations adversely affecting the Authority’s debt exposures.  It 
arises from the repricing of the Authority’s floating rate debt, as well as from incremental funding or new borrow-
ings, and from the refinancing of existing borrowings.

It is the Authority’s policy to manage interest costs through the utilisation of a mix of fixed and variable rate debts 
as well as through the evaluation of foreign versus local funding. For further details on long term loans refer to Note 
8 of the Annual Financial Statements.
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Interest rate sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held con-
stant, of the Authority’s profit (through the impact on the floating rate borrowings). There is only an immaterial impact on 
the Authority’s equity.

Increase/decrease 
in basis points

Effect on profit 

before tax

M’000

2009

Trans Caledon Tunnel Authority Debt Service Loans

Offshore Loans +200 5 396

Common Monetary Area Loans +200 616

Government of Lesotho Debt Service Loans

Offshore loans: Repayable in semi-annual instalments ending 
June 2008 +200                              -

Government of Lesotho Development Fund +200                              -

Trans Caledon Tunnel Authority Debt Service Loans

Offshore Loans -200 (5 396)

Common Monetary Area Loans -200 (616)

Government of Lesotho Debt Service Loans

Offshore loans: Repayable in semi-annual instalments ending 
June 2008 -200                              -

Government of Lesotho Development Fund -200                              -

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

2008

Trans Caledon Tunnel Authority Debt Service Loans

Offshore Loans +300 9 520

Common Monetary Area Loans +300 992

Government of Lesotho Debt Service Loans

Offshore loans: Repayable in semi-annual instalments ending June 2008 +300                    162

Common Monetary Area Loans: Government of Lesotho Development Fund +300                    444

Trans Caledon Tunnel Authority Debt Service Loans

Offshore Loans -300 (9 520)

Common Monetary Area Loans -300 (992)

Government of Lesotho Debt Service Loans

Offshore loans: Repayable in semi-annual instalments ending June 2008 -300                 (162)

Common Monetary Area Loans: Government of Lesotho Development Fund -300                 (444)
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Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate with changing market prices whether caused 
by factors specific to the instrument or to general external market changes.  The Authority has no financial instruments 
which are affected by changing market prices.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge its obligations thereby causing the other 
party to suffer financial loss. The Authority’s cash equivalents are kept at well-established financial institutions which 
limits its counter party exposure.  The Authority has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of cash and cash 
equivalents. The entity is exposed to significant credit risk exposure in terms of receivables due to the extensive period it 
takes to recover accounts receivable.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of the Authority defaulting on its financial obligations as a result of insufficient funding capacity in 
relation to such obligations.  The Authority manages this risk firstly through seeking guarantees from the Governments 
of Lesotho and South Africa, and secondly through planning and continuing re-planning of long-term project costs and 
funding requirements.

The Authority ensures that facilities are in place to meet its immediate obligations at all times.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Authority’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise stakeholder value.

Maturity Profile of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Apart from the long-term liabilities, capital market funds and provisions, all the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities are 
expected to mature within a twelve-month period.  The maturities of the long-term liabilities are reflected, under Note 10.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Authority considers all its financial assets’ and liabilities’ carrying value to be equivalent to their fair value.

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Authority’s financial instruments.

Carrying Amount Fair value

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

Financial Assets
Project taxes refunded by the 

Government of Lesotho - - - -

Contract Advance payments 33 818 33 818

Other receivables and prepayments 19 205 42 425 19 205 42 425

Cash and Cash Equivalents 128 592 112 841 128 592 112 841

Financial Liabilities
Contract Payables and Accruals 4 382 6 899 4 382 6 899

Contract Retentions 759 34 759 34

Other payables and accruals 158 461 442 531 158 461 442 531

Long Term Liabilities 539 681 618 515 539 681 618 515

Capital Market Liability 969 882 954 977 969 882 954 977
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18. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
According to the payroll system the authority had the following number of employees as at the 31 March 2009:  
276    (2008: 292)
19.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Identified related parties include the parties to the treaty namely the government of the Republic of South 
Africa (RSA) and the government of the Kingdom of Lesotho (GOL). The Lesotho Electricity Corporation (LEC) 
and the Lesotho Revenue Authority are also deemed related parties as they are subjected to common control 
by the government of the Kingdom of Lesotho.

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

Amounts credited to the Income Statement or fund accounts
Sales of electricity to LEC 54 911 62 424

Sales of electricity to ESKOM 328 550

Cost related payments GOL 265 647 81 000

Cost related payments RSA 367 429 446 563

Loans to related parties and other accounts receivable
Account receivable from LEC 18 801 23 339

Provision for Doubtful Debts from LEC (3 187) (3 187)

Account receivable from LRA 11 874 10 038

Provision for Doubtful Debts from LRA (11 874) (10 038)

Loans from related parties and other accounts payable
Accrued interest on GOL loans 67 568 67 568

Loan payable to GOL - 186 041

Compensation to Key Management Personnel
Short Term Employee Benefits 7 755 9 184

Termination Benefits - -

Total Compensation Paid to Key Management personnel 7 755 9 184

Board Fees

Board and sub committee fees including sitting and travel costs 1 221 1 586

The following donations of Property, Plant and Equipment were made to the Government of Lesotho.The following donations of Property, Plant and Equipment were made to the Government of Lesotho.

2009

M’000

2008

M’000

Transfer of Mphorosone Camp 6 272 18 963

6 272 18 963

All related party transactions are at arm’s length and such terms are substantiated.
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NOTE

2009

M’000

2008

M’000
Revenue
Electricity income 55 219 62 975
Investment Income 10 217 7 972
Profit on sale of assets 268 12 990
Miscellaneous income 16 470 2 279
Investment property income 3 808 2 456
Total Revenue 85 982 88 672

Expenditure
Asset donations to GOL 20 6 272 18 963
Audit and accounting fees 741 804
Bad debts 8 102 -
Bank charges 76 64
Board and committee fees 1 221 1 586
Construction and contractor costs 11 689 18 153
Depreciation 305 290 303 067
Entertainment - -
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 8 108 100 058
Increase/(Decrease) in future compensation provision 43 987 40 745
Increase/(Decrease) in provision for contract claims - -
Insurance 2 362 1 498
Interest and finance expenses 148 621 210 973
Inventory and consumable stores 378 371
Leave pay 600 348
Legal and arbitration fees 5 167 (16 561)
Miscellaneous expenses 9 503 2 849
Motor vehicle expenses 7 295 6 647
Plant spares 563 55
Professional services 3 117 2 543
Provision for doubtful debts 1 976 2 429
Public relation costs 1 253 771
Rates, electricity and water 3 504 3 209
Recruitment 88 95
Rental expenses 383 1 578
Repairs and maintenance 5 312 11 002
Resettlement and compensation costs 9 999 7 462
Safety awareness 35 -
Salaries, wages and allowances 57 265 61 364
Security expense 3 775 856
Severance pay 1 918 2 178
Stationery 690 671
Telephone and communication 1 635 1 982
Training 1 243 1 160
Travel and transportation 1 773 769
Total Expenses 653 941 787 689

Loss for the year 567 959 699 017
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